# NO. 2008-CP-01252-COA

BOBBY BURKS, JR.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLANT** 

V.

MAY 1 8 2009

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

**APPELLEE** 

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

BY:

Bobby Burks, Jr., #21722

**MCCF** 

503 Main Street

Columbia, Ms 39429

# ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF

#

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES

# **ISSUE ONE**

Whether trial court erred in failing to reconsider sentence imposed upon revocation where sentence was not imposed within requirements of law.

# **ISSUE TWO**:

Whether trial court improperly revoked suspended sentence where court initially sentenced Appellant to time served and where such sentence would remove jurisdiction or authority to subsequently revoke sentence or to require Appellant to report to supervision officer.

Johnson v. State, 925 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2006).

# **ISSUE THREE**:

Whether post release supervision sentence was null and void where there was no period of sentence to be served prior to commencement of post release supervision. Sweat v. State, 912 So.2d 458, 460 (Miss. 2005)

# **ISSUE FOUR:**

Whether petition to revoke probation was invalid where it was made upon insufficient and incorrect claims.

#### **ISSUE FIVE**

The trial court failed a to file a complete record of the trial court proceedings after

Appellant clearly designated a complete record in his designation of record on appeal and sought

by motion to this court that the record be supplemented with a complete record.

# STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections and assigned to the Marion County Correctional Facility in Columbia, Mississippi, in service of the prison term imposed. Appellant has been continuously confined in regards to such sentence since date of conviction and imposition of sentence by trial court..

# STATEMENT OF CASE

Bobby Burks, Jr. was indicted on February 24, 2000, in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi for the offense of possession with intent to transfer or distribute a controlled substance. (R. 28)

Appellant, while represented by Honorable Felicia Burkes, entered a plea of guilty to such charge. Pursuant to such plea, and through an agreement made with the prosecution, Appellant was sentenced to time served. Additionally, the court imposed a second tier to the sentence that Appellant be sentenced to twenty (20) years and five (5) years of post release supervision per Miss. Code Ann 47-7-34.

The court subsequently entered an order revoking the suspended sentence and imposing twenty (20) years where court legally, and in accord with law, had no authority or jurisdiction to revoke a sentence which had initially been imposed as "time served in an institution under the control and supervision of the Department of Corrections. The revocation proceedings conducted in this case is therefore illegal.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. <u>Kirksey v State</u>, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

In the instant case, well-settled law dictates that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous since the trial court failed to fully address all substantial and meritorious claims made by Burks in the motion, i.e., the record clearly demonstrates that Appellant Burks suffered constitutional violations where the trial court imposed a sentence of time served (Supp. R. 21) The trial court never addressed this most critical claim which, proven by the record, invalidates the post release supervision which the court subsequently imposed and which was later revoked. The trial court should have allowed Flowers an evidentiary hearing on the claims before summarily dismissing the motion.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The revocation proceedings conducted in this case was illegal where trial court was without lawful authority to conduct such proceedings since court had initially sentenced Appellant to time served which made any post release supervision null and void.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# ISSUE ONE

Whether trial court erred in failing to reconsider sentence imposed upon revocation where sentence was not imposed within requirements of law.

The trial court imposed the sentence upon Appellant, at the time of his plea and sentencing for possession of a controlled substance with intent, as follows:

Thereupon the defendant was placed at the Bar of the Court for sentence and was asked by the Court if he had anything to say why the judgment should not be pronounced and no sufficient cause to the contrary was shown or appeared to the Court.

Therefore, for said offense and on said plea of guilty it is ORDERED that the defendant be and he is hereby sentenced to serve a term of TWENTY (20)

YEARS SUSPENDED FOR TIME SERVED in an institution under the control and supervision of the Department of Corrections.

Provided however, it having been made known to the court that the defendant has been heretofore convicted of a felony, and the ends of justice and the best interest of the public and the defendant will be best served, the Court hereby suspends the execution of the above sentence for a period of FIVE (5)

YEARS POST RELEASE SUPERVISION per Miss. Code Sec. 47-7-34

Annotated and the defendant is hereby placed under the supervision of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, until the court in term time, or the Judge on vacation, shall alter, extend, terminate or direct the enforcement of the above sentence, and the suspension of said sentence is based upon the following conditions: (R. 8-9)

Here the trial court clearly failed to follow the law in imposing such a sentence. Sweat v. State, 912 So.2d 458 (Miss. 2005).

In Sweat, supra, 912 So.2d at 460, the court stated:

Here, it is clear that the trial court sentenced Sweat under §47-7-34. Therefore, we modify the trial Court's sentence so that following his eight years of incarceration, Sweat will

be released to twelve years of post-release supervision but that he is required to report to MDOC officials for only five years and the remaining seven years will be "unsupervised" post release supervision.

In the instant case the trial court's sentence fail to comply with the decision rendered in Sweat as well as the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. §47-7-34. The sentence is there null and void and should be considered as a waiver of the Court's jurisdiction to supervise Appellant or enforce terms of such an illegal sentence. Appellant sought, on more than one attempt, by asserting to the court that Appellant had fulfilled the requirements of the Court order in regards to the fine. Since the fine was all which Appellant was able to recognize under the sentencing order where such order imposed the sentence as time served. Appellant was not present at the revocation hearing and therefore had no opportunity to defend himself or provide any facts or evidence on his behalf.

#### **ISSUE TWO**

Whether trial court improperly revoked suspended sentence where court initially sentenced Appellant to time served and where such sentence would legally remove jurisdiction or authority to subsequently revoke sentence, or to require Appellant to report to supervision officer, <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 925 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2006), and whether Appellant was justified in failing to report under such belief and circumstances.

The trial court initially imposed the sentence as being time served. (Supp. R., pp. 21) The trial court made the pronunciation of sentence in open court.

Mr. Burks, the Court hereby sentences you to a term of incarceration of twenty years on this charge. The Court will suspend that for time served at this time. The Court is going to place you on five years of reporting post release supervision. For the first six months you'll be drug tested once a week.

Under the law the trial court should not have had the authority to revoke a 20 year sentence or post release supervision which was imposed as time served. At the most, the court could have revoke only the 5 years of post release supervision. Time served clearly confirms that all time has been served in regards to the 20 years. The only authority the court could have possibly had, under term of the sentence, would have been to revoke the 5 years post release supervision. The only exception to the time served would have been if Appellant had a second charge which he did not.

This court should find that under the decision rendered in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 925 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2006) and <u>Sweat v. State</u>, 912 So.2d 458, 460 (Miss. 2005), the trial court was without jurisdiction to revoke a 20 year post release supervision term which the Court had previously reduced to time served from the date of sentence. (Supp. R. pp. 21)

Moreover, Appellant's failure to report to the probation officer was clearly based upon the language of the sentencing order which caused Appellant to believe he had been actually sentenced to time served. Under these circumstances Appellant should not have been punished and revoked because he did not report. The trial court should have taken the language of the sentencing order into account. Appellant's probation should not have been revoked unless it can be determined that Appellant acted without reasonable belief that he was within the language of the sentencing order. The post conviction court never address this very critical claim (R. pp. 17-18) but endowed upon making Appellant be a probation violator due to statements made by Appellant at the revocation hearing where he was unrepresented by counsel.

Appellant would urge this court to reverse and render this case on the basis of the record clearly showing that Appellant was initially sentenced to time served and that any revocation which followed was made in regards to a post release supervision which was null and void.

# **ISSUE THREE**

Whether post release supervision sentence was null and void where there was no period of sentence to be served prior to commencement of post release supervision. Sweat v. State, 912 So.2d 458, 460 (Miss. 2005).

The previous decisions rendered in regards to post release supervision requires that the court imposed a sentence to be served with a period of post release supervision to follow. Sweat v. State, 912 So.2d 458, 460 (Miss. 2005); Johnson v. State, 925 So.2d 86, 101 (Miss. 2006).

In the instant case the trial court did not impose a portion of the sentence to be served and, in fact, did suspend the complete sentence. This court should find that the trial court erred in failing to reconsider the revocation of the post release supervision, which was conducted in Appellant's absence, and entering a violation of the 20 years which was initially imposed as time served. At most, the Court was only empowered to violate Appellant for the 5 years post release supervision. Appellant would urge that this case be reversed and rendered.

#### **ISSUE FOUR**

Whether petition to revoke probation was invalid where it was made upon insufficient and incorrect claims.

The Petition to Revoke Probation, filed by the Probation Officer on May 13, 2004, stated that "He owes the Court \$2,350.00." This is an incorrect assessment by the Probation Officer.

The Court's Order imposing sentence, which is found as to this motion, clearly outlines that petitioner owed the Court \$1,000.00. The sentencing Order do not assess any other costs. The petition should have been made void by making such an incorrect assessment.

Additionally, the Petition to revoke Probation should also be made void where it seeks to revoke a probation. In sentencing petitioner, the Court found that petitioner had been previously

convicted of a felony. The law therefore prohibited petitioner from being sentenced to term of probation. Miss. Code Ann. §47-7-33. The petition filed by the probation officer should have been found as null and void where it sought to revoke a term of release which did not exist and could not have existed under the law. This Court should so find and grant the relief of vacation of the revocation and reinstatement of the term of release which was effective at the time of the filing of the petition to revoke probation.

# **ISSUE FIVE**

The trial court failed a to file a complete record of the trial court proceedings after Appellant clearly designated a complete record in his designation of record on appeal and sought by motion to this court that the record be supplemented with a complete record.

That Appellant filed a designation of those portion of the record which should be included with this appeal. (R. pp. 20) Appellant asked that the Court include "the post conviction relief petition". The trial court stated in it's order denying the PCR that petitioner had filed post conviction relief motion but the court never included this motion in the record. Instead, the Court placed the initial handwritten motion in the record. Appellant has attached, as Appendix "A" to this brief, a copy\_of the initial page of the correct PCR filed with the trial court on December 14, 2007. Not only did the trial court not rule upon this motion but the Court never allowed the

Miss. Code Ann. §47-7-33(1)

<sup>1 (1)</sup> When it appears to the satisfaction of any circuit court or county court in the State of Mississippi, having original jurisdiction over criminal actions, or to the judge thereof, that the ends of justice and the best interest of the public, as well as the defendant, will be served thereby, such court, in term time or in vacation, shall have the power, after conviction or a plea of guilty, except in a case where a death sentence or life imprisonment is the maximum penalty which may be imposed or where the defendant has been convicted of a felony on a previous occasion in any court or courts of the United States and of any state or territories thereof, to suspend the imposition or execution of sentence, and place the defendant on probation as herein provided, except that the court shall not suspend the execution of a sentence of imprisonment after the defendant shall have begun to serve such sentence. In placing any defendant on probation, the court, or judge, shall direct that such defendant be under the supervision of the department of corrections.

motion to be included in the record on appeal even after this Court issued instructions that the record be supplemented with guilty plea proceedings. This Court January 21, 2009, Order reserved the right to supplement the record with additional documents as needed for this appeal.

Appellant would assert to this Court that it is the responsibility of the Appellant to make the record contain those documents which supports the claims raised. <u>Puckett v. Stuckey</u>, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).

#### In <u>Puckett</u>, the Supreme Court held that:

Inexplicably, the MDOC visitation policy was not made a part of the record in the circuit court. A purported copy is included in appellee's brief but may not be considered in the present posture of the case. We have stated on many occasions that each case must be decided by the facts shown in the record, not assertions in the brief. Facts asserted to exist must and ought to be definitely proved and placed before us by a record certified by law, otherwise, we cannot know them. Britt v. State, , 1379 (Miss. 1988).

In the instant case, however, as the record demonstrates, Appellant designated all transcripts of the record and all clerks papers. This Court previously rendered an Order directing that the record be supplemented. While Appellant did not include a particular cause number in his designation, the designation all portions of the record, including the petition for post conviction relief filed, made clear that the PCR filed on December 14, 2007, should have been included since it was relevant to this appeal. The post conviction relief motion filed by Appellant contained Cause No. A2401-07-451. See Appendix "A", attached hereto. Moreover, this Court has previously stated in <u>Doss v. State</u>, 956 So.2d 1100 (Miss. App. 2007)

(fn 1) that:

None of the transcripts from the proceedings on the underlying robbery conviction were included in the record which is before this Court. Doss's "Designation of Records" designated "[a]II clerks papers, trial transcripts and exhibits filed, taken or offered in this case" as being necessary to be included on appeal. Technically, this designation does

not include papers, transcripts, or exhibits which are part of the underlying criminal conviction, as a motion for post-conviction collateral relief is a separate civil action. Nevertheless, were we not affirming on grounds which are in no way dependent on these absent documents, we would order a supplemental record to include such documents.

The decision in Doss represented a similar designation of records which this Court indicated it would reverse and supplement the record on appeal were there not other claims which caused dismissal and which claims were not inclusive in the portions of the record missing. In the instant case, the crucial portions of the record are missing. The trial court actually never considered the PCR filed in this case but considered a handwritten PCR. This Court had previously dismissed these very claims in a subsequent appeal in Supreme Court No. 2006-CP-00711-COA. This Court dismissed these claims by an Order filed on May 10, 2007. without prejudice. The state indicated that relief should be first sought in the trial court pursuant to Walton v. State, 666 So.2d 752 (Miss. 1995) and Martin v. State, 556 So.2d 357 (Miss. 1990). The post conviction motion, which the trial court never considered, was properly before the Court. Appellant did all which was possible to make the record contain those portions which would support his claims on appeal. This Court have firmly held that the case will be reversed and remanded when this Court is presented with only one side of the argument to review, an insufficient record and a judgment that has no clear support from the record. IN RE J.D.W., 881 So.2d 929 (Miss.App. 2004).

# **CONCLUSION**

Appellant Burks respectfully submits that based on the authorities cited herein and in support of his brief, that this Court should vacate the decision rendered by the trial court and

render this case as having been a sentence illegally imposed after Appellant was sentenced to time served.