IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **BOBBY BURKS, JR.**

VS.

.

NO. 2008-CP-1252-COA

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPELLANT

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

## JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LISA L. BLOUNT SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi, and the summary denial of a *pro se* motion for post conviction relief filed by Bobby Burks, Jr. (CP 17).

On November 9, 2000, Burks entered a guilty plea to possession of a controlled substance with the intent to transfer or distribute.( Plea hearing at Tr 2-26). The trial court sentenced Burks to "twenty years suspended for time served" with five years post-release supervision and to pay a \$5,000 fine with all but \$1,000 suspended. (CP 29-32; Tr 20-21).

On June 14, 2004, after a hearing in which Burks was present, the court revoked his probation and imposed the original twenty (20) year sentence, with credit for time previously served. (CP. 33; Revocation hearing at Tr 29-35). On June 23, 2004, Burks filed a motion to reconsider which the court denied. Burks filed a second motion to reconsider which the court denied as a successive writ. (CP 12).

On June 15, 2006, Burks filed a *pro se* motion for post conviction collateral relief, being Circuit Court cause number A2401-2006-186. (CP 5-10). By order dated July 9, 2008, the court found that "an order was previously entered in his criminal cause number B2401-00-154 denying his Motion to Reconsider filed June 23, 2004. His motion for post conviction relief contains the same allegations as his previous motions to reconsider and is denied." (CP 17-18). The trial court went on to address the issues raised in Burks' motion ruling Burks failed to allege any cognizable relief under the post-conviction relief statute. (*Id*).

Aggrieved, Burks appealed and asked this Court to vacate the order of revocation and render his sentence served.

#### **ISSUES**

- Issue I: Whether the lower court erred in denying the post-conviction relief?
- Issue II: Whether the trial court erred in failing to reconsider the sentence imposed upon revocation where the sentence was not imposed within the requirements of law?
- Issue III: Whether the trial court improperly revoked the suspended sentence where the court initially sentenced Appellant to time served and where such sentence would legally remove jurisdiction or authority to subsequently revoke sentence or require Appellant to report to supervision officer?
- Issue No. IV: Whether the post release supervision was null and void because there was no term of incarceration prior to post release supervision?
- Issue V: Whether the petition to revoke probation was invalid where it was made upon insufficient and incorrect claims.?
- Issue VI: Whether the clerk of the court provided a complete record on appeal?

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State contends the lower court's denial of post-conviction relief should be affirmed as it was well-supported by the record. No other issues are properly before the court at this time.

Additionally, Burks failed to show the trial court erred in denying the relief requested. The term of incarceration in the circuit court's order of revocation is legal and does not exceed Burks' original sentence. The trial court was well within its discretion in revoking Burks' suspended sentence. The Harrison County Circuit Clerk submitted the complete record as designated by Burks.

#### ARGUMENT

When reviewing a lower court's decision to deny a petition for post-conviction relief, an appellate court will not disturb the trial court's factual findings unless they are found to be clearly erroneous; however, where questions of law are raised, the applicable standard of review is *de novo*. *Ruff v. State*,910 So.2d 1160 (Miss.App.,2005).

## ISSUE I: WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF?

No error has been shown in the lower court's denial of the claims presented in the motion,

and no other issues are properly before this Court. At the outset, the State asserts the motion for

post-conviction relief in the case sub judice raised the following issues, and only these issues:

- 1. That the trial court's sentence imposed at his revocation constituted cruel and unusual punishment.
- 2. That he was denied due process of law.
- 3. That he received ineffective assistance of counsel.

The court denied these claims with the following findings and conclusions, which are fully

supported by the law and facts:

A review of the transcript reveals that Burkes was given ample opportunity to explain. He informed the Court that the people he had lived with "threw" him out shortly afer hew was placed on probation and so he went to Franklin County to live with his sick mother without informing his probation officer. Asked what he thought would happen as a result of his actions Burks said he thought he would "go to jail." Burks acknowledged that he was also wanted by the Lincoln County for failure to report after being placed on probation on four counts of "sale of cocaine." Asked if he had anything else to say Burks asked for "mercy, another chance."

Mississippi Code Annotated § 47-7-37 provides

Any probationer who removes himself from the State of Mississippi without permission of the court placing him on probation, or the court to which jurisdiction has been transferred, shall be deemed and considered a fugitive from justice and shall be subject to extradition as now provided by law. No part of the time that one is on probation shall be considered as any part of the time that he shall be sentenced to serve. At any time during the period of probation the court, or judge in vacation, may issue a warrant for violating any of the conditions of probation or suspension of sentence and cause the probationer to be arrested.

Once a defendant violates his probation it is "well within the court's power to revoke his probation or his suspended sentence and reinstate any or all of the original sentence." *Brunson v. State*, 796 So.2d 284 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001). The fact that Burks claims that he did not understand that he would have to serve the remaining balance of his sentence does not entitle him to post-conviction relief. *Gates v. State*, 919 So.2d 170 (Miss.Ct.2005). Burks has failed to allege any cognizable relief under the post-conviction relief statute.

(CP 17-18).

As evidenced by the foregoing excerpt, the lower court's disposition of the motion for post-

conviction relief was well-supported by the record and case law. Moreover, no claims other than

those presented by the motion are properly before this Court. See Stringer v. State, 279 So.2d 156

(Miss.1973); Jones v. State, 915 So.2d 511 (Miss.Ct.App.2005). Against this background, the State

proceeds to address the issues presented in Burks' brief.

- ISSUE II: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RECONSIDER THE SENTENCE IMPOSED UPON REVOCATION WHERE THE SENTENCE WAS NOT IMPOSED WITHIN THE REQUIREMENTS OF LAW?
- ISSUE III: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY REVOKED THE SUSPENDED SENTENCE WHERE THE COURT INITIALLY SENTENCED APPELLANT TO TIME SERVED AND WHERE SUCH SENTENCE WOULD LEGALLY REMOVE JURISDICTION OR AUTHORITY TO SUBSEQUENTLY REVOKE SENTENCE OR REQUIRE APPELLANT TO REPORT TO SUPERVISION OFFICER?

Burks contends the sentence imposed at his revocation is null and void because it fails to comply with Miss. Code Ann.§ 47-7-34 and the decision in *Sweat v. State*, 912 So.2d458 (Miss.2005). He also argues the lower court no longer had authority to revoke his suspended sentence because he was originally sentenced to twenty (20) years time served. Burks goes on to state he "was not present at the revocation hearing and therefore had no opportunity to defend himself or provide any facts or evidence on his behalf." (Appellee's brief at 8). The official transcript of Burks' revocation hearing on June 14, 2004, would indicate Burks was indeed present and afforded an opportunity to present his case. (Revocation hearing at Tr 29-35).

These issues were not presented to the lower court in the motion being appealed. The lower court did not have an opportunity to address them in the motion, and they should not be litigated for the first time on appeal. Incorporating the authorities cited under Issue I of this brief, the State submits these issues are procedurally barred and should be denied summarily. Procedural bar aside, the State, addressing the issues together, submits the court's sentence imposed when it revoked Burks' probation did not violate Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-37 (Rev.2004) or *Sweat v. State*. The term of incarceration in the order of revocation does not exceed Burks' original sentence. Also, Burks' original sentence was valid.

The circuit court was well within its discretion in revoking Burks' suspended sentence pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-37 (Rev.2004). In *Artis v. State*, 643 So.2d 533, 537 (Miss.1994), the Supreme Court interpreted Section 47-7-37 as follows:

We find pursuant to the foregoing Code sections that the normal course of procedure, when the court exercises its authority to suspend the execution of a portion of a defendant's sentence, is as follows: (1) impose a sentence; (2) determine what portion is to be suspended; (3) impose a period of probation (up to five years); and, (4) specify the terms and conditions upon which the probation/suspended sentence is contingent. Then, any time during the period of probation (i.e., within five years from the end of the time served portion of the sentence), if upon hearing it is determined that the probationer violated any of the specified conditions of his probation, the court has the authority to revoke any part or all of the probation or any part or all of the suspended sentence, as if the decision to suspend the sentence and place the defendant on probation had never been made.

Burks failed to report and to pay his fine and court costs as directed in his original sentence.

(CP 17). At the revocation hearing the court stated "Paragraph 2 of this petition states that you

violated your probation by absconding your supervision by failing to report. Judge Whitfield also ordered that you have weekly drug screens for six months. You last reported in January of 2001, which was about less than sixty days after your release...." (Revocation hearing at Tr 30). The court had jurisdiction and ample grounds to revoke Burks' suspended sentence. This issue lacks merit.

# ISSUE NO. IV: WHETHER THE POST RELEASE SUPERVISION WAS NULL AND VOID BECAUSE THERE WAS NO TERM OF INCARCERATION PRIOR TO POST RELEASE SUPERVISION?

Burks contends the post release supervision sentence was null and void because the trial court suspended his entire twenty (20) year sentence. Obviously Burks has a memory lapse of the 157 days he served in the Harrison County Jail prior to the revocation hearing. According to Burks under the decisions in *Sweat v. State*, 912 So.2d 458,(Miss.2005) and *Johnson v. State*, 925 So.2d 86, 101 (Miss.2006), the trial court could not suspend his entire sentence but was required to impose a term of incarceration prior to a term of post-release supervision. The State contends that is exactly what the trial court did.

The State would first argue this claim was not presented in the motion for post-conviction relief being appealed. The lower court did not have an opportunity to address it, so it should not be litigated for the first time on appeal. Incorporating the authorities cited under Proposition I of this brief, the State submits this issue is procedurally barred and should be denied summarily.

Procedural bar aside, the State submits that at his plea and sentencing hearing on November 9, 2000, the trial court ruled:

Mr. Burkes, the Court hereby sentences you to a term of incarceration of twenty years on this charge. The court will suspend that for time served at this time. The court is going to place you on five years of reporting post-release supervision. For the first six months you'll be drug tested once a week.

There will be a \$5,000 fine. I'll suspend four of that with \$1,000 to be paid.

8

(Sentencing hearing at Tr 21). The written order reads"[t]o serve a term of Twenty (20) years suspended for time served..." CP 29.

The June 14, 2004 order of revocation filed with the clerk on June 17, 2004, states "It is adjudged that the defendant be and he is hereby sentenced to serve Twenty (20) Years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. The Defendant is to receive credit for time served." (CP 11).

In the post-conviction relief case of *Branch v. State*, 996 So.2d 829, 831 (Miss.App.,2008), this court took judicial notice of Branch's discharge certificate which was included with his brief but not included as part of the record from the circuit court. "As the discharge certificate merely confirms Branch's assertions in his motion for post-conviction relief, we take judicial notice of the information contained therein."

The State would ask this Court under M.R.E. 201 to take judicial notice of the information contained in the Mississippi Department of Corrections Sentence Computation Record, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and the confirmation of time served completed by the Harrison County Sheriff's Office, which is attached hereto as Exhibit "B." As reflected in the attached records, MDOC gave Burks credit for serving a total of 157 days pre-trial, per the revocation order. He was credited with serving 124 days pre-trial from July 9, 2000 to November 10, 2000, the date of his guilty plea and sentencing; and 33 days from May 12, 2004 to June 14, 2004, the date of his revocation hearing. This assignment of error, in addition to being barred, totally lacks merit.

# ISSUE V: WHETHER THE PETITION TO REVOKE PROBATION WAS INVALID WHERE IT WAS MADE UPON INSUFFICIENT AND INCORRECT CLAIMS.?

This claim was not presented in the motion for post-conviction relief being appealed. The

lower court did not have an opportunity to address it, so it should not be litigated for the first time on appeal. Incorporating the authorities cited under Proposition I of this brief, the State submits this issue is procedurally barred and should be denied summarily.

Burks alleges the Petition to Revoke Probation incorrectly stated that he owed the court \$2,300.00. (Appellee's brief 10). Burks contends the sentencing order did not assess any costs but only a \$1,000.00 fine. Procedural bar aside, the State submits that the subject order specifically directs Burks to pay court costs and \$100.00 to the Crime Victims Compensation Fund. (CP 30).

Burks also alleges that the petition to revoke his probation is null and void because it seeks to revoke an illegal probation. Burks reasons that because he is a convicted felon and the court is prohibited from sentencing him to a term of probation under Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-33(1), his original sentence can not exist under law. (Appellee's brief 10). Even though Burks argues he cannot be sentenced to probation, he asks the Court to vacate the revocation and reinstate the probation.

Procedural bar aside, the State submits Burks was sentenced to five years post release supervision which is permissible under Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-34. "Post-release supervision" is an alternative to probation designed specifically for felons. Gaston v. State, 2002, 817 So.2d 613 (Miss.App.2002). This issue lacks merit.

# **ISSUE VI:** WHETHER THE CLERK OF THE COURT PROVIDED A COMPLETE RECORD ON APPEAL?

In his final assignment of error, Burks complains that the record provided by the Harrison County Circuit Clerk was not complete and asks that his sentence be reversed and remanded. The case *sub judice* is an appeal of the order entered in Cause No. A2401-06-186 on July 9, 2008. (CP 19). Burks' Designation of Record filed in Cause No. A2401-06-186 specifies "All clerk papers, to include, the post-conviction relief petition, and all attachments filed in this action." That is exactly what the Circuit Clerk of Harrison County submitted in the record to this Court. CP 5-13.

Burks asserts the Motion for Post Conviction Relief filed on December 14, 2007, and attached as Exhibit "A" to his brief, is the correct motion that should be included in the record to be considered by this Court on appeal. The motion that Burks is referencing was filed in Cause No. A2401-07-451 not in Cause No. A2401-06-186. Therefore, it was not necessary for the clerk to provide copies of the motion filed in A2401-07-451, as it was not designated as part of the official record in this cause. The State would submit that the record submitted by the clerk complies with the ruling in *Doss v. State*, 956 So.2d 1100 (Miss.App.2007). This allegation of error is without merit.

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal, the State would ask this Court to affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court of Harrison County denying postconviction relief to Bobby Burks.